IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPL

NO. 2007-KA-01915-COA

FILED

MAY 0 5 2008

Office of the Clerk Supreme Court Court of Appeals

RENALDO BUTLER

APPELLANT

VERSUS

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE 1ST JUDICIAL DISTRICT
OF
HINDS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF ON THE MERITS BY APPELLANT

OFFICE OF THE PUBLIC DEFENDER,
HINDS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI
William R. LaBarre, MSB No.

PUBLIC DEFENDER

Shronda Taylor-Leggett, MSB No.

Alice Stamps, MSB No.

Virginia L. Watkins, MSB. No.

Assistant Public Defenders Post Office Box 23029 Jackson, Mississippi 39225

Telephone: 601-948-2683 Facsimile: 601-948-2687

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. The trial court erred when it gave State's Jury Instruction S-3 and S-4 on constructive possession when no adequate evidentiary basis existed to support such instructions; The trial court erred in denial of Defense Jury Instruction D-7, defining actual possession, as facts in evidence established the basis for giving such an instruction, thus depriving Mr. Butler of his fundamental right to due process and proper instruction of the jury;
- II. The trial court erred when it overruled a *Batson* challenge by the defense when the State exercised four preemptory strikes against African-American jurors;
- III. The trial court erred when it overruled a relevance objection made by the defense when the court allowed the extensive and cumulative questioning of defense witness Sherly Chandler concerning the criminal histories of her two sons. This line of questioning was irrelevant and highly prejudicial to the defendant, and
- IV. The trial court erred in denying the defense's Motion to Suppress the physical evidence.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS BELOW

Renaldo Darrell Butler was indicted for possession of cocaine by a grand jury of the First Judicial District of Hinds County, Mississippi on February 10, 2005. CP 3.

Mr. Butler faced trial by a duly composed jury beginning February 6, 2007; he was found guilty of possession of cocaine, in violation of Miss. Code Ann. §§ 41-29-139 (1972). CP 43; 45. RE 12; 13. T. 165-166. Mr. Butler was sentenced to eight years imprisonment, six years to serve, two years suspended, and two years post release supervision, in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections. CP 44-45; RE 13; T. 165-166.

After timely prosecution of post-trial motions, all of which were denied, Mr. Butler appealed his conviction, which is now before this honorable Court. CP 52; 28; RE 14.

B. Statement of Facts

On the evening of October 25, 2003, Renaldo Butler, gathered at a car wash on the corner of Northside Drive and Mosley, with about 19 friends to have a repast in memory of their slain friend, Christopher Stiff. Mr. Butler's occupation was to wash cars at this facility and occasionally he stayed after hours washing cars, due to late business. (T. 135) Officer Casanova Reed, who had been on the police force only 10 months, was patrolling Northside Drive, near the Chuk Stop Gas Station and Car Wash. (T. 84).Officer Reed saw a group of about 15 to 20 individuals gathered at the car wash on the corner of Northside Drive and Mosley (T. 84; 92).

Officer Reed testified that he approached the car wash and noticed the group of individuals drinking, but did not offer any citations. (T. 85; 99)

Officer Reed states that he had clear visibility between 7 and 7:30 p.m. on the night of the alleged occurrence, however it was dark outside. (T. 85; 92) Officer Reed states that he saw Renaldo Butler walk in front of his patrol car as he approached the car wash (T. 95). Renaldo Butler states that when Officer Reed approached the car wash, everyone began to run different directions, except for him. However, Renaldo, the only one arrested, complied with the Officer Reed's command to stop. (T. 86) Officer Reed stated that Renaldo Butler walked behind the wall of the car wash and dropped by his foot, what he thought was crack-cocaine. (T. 86; 98; 101) Without any field testing, Renaldo was handcuffed, arrested and secured in Officer Reed's patrol car, without being read his rights, nor an explanation of the charges against him, until after he was placed in the police car. (T. 128) Officer Reed took Renaldo to the Standard Life Building where Sergeant Megehee, interviewed him alone. Officer Reed was not present during the interview, cannot recall how long the interview was, but was responsible for taking Renaldo to jail. (T. 98)

Officer Reed's report of the occurrence never stated that he saw Renaldo Butler walk in front of the police car, but behind a wall. (T. 94) However, Officer Reed testified that he saw Renaldo Butler come from behind a wall, but his report stated that he saw Renaldo Butler go behind a wall. (T. 96) At trial, Officer Reed offered testimony conflicting with his signed report.

Criminalist and drug analyst specialist Patricia Barnes testified that she tested the alleged substance and identified the substance as crack-cocaine, without

having any scientific data linking Renaldo Butler to the crack cocaine except what Officer Reed thought he saw. (T. 110) Mrs. Barnes also testified that she did not know where the crack came from, neither did she know which officer retrieved the substance.(T. 111) The prosecution failed to establish a proper chain of custody with the crack-cocaine.

Sheryl Chandler testified that she was present at the car wash on the night of the alleged occurrence, on October 25, 2003. (T. 114) Ms. Chandler testified under oath that the friends of the slain Christopher Stiff gathered at the car wash on the corner of Northside Drive and Mosley for a repast in his memory. (T. 114) Ms. Chandler testified under oath that Renaldo Butler was present at the time of the repast, and she did not see Renaldo Butler throw any drugs down on the ground or possess any drugs. (T. 114) Renaldo Butler did not have any drugs on his person nor did he throw any drugs to the ground. (T129)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Mr. Butler submits that the trial court erred when it gave State's Jury Instruction S-3 and S-4 on constructive possession when no adequate evidentiary basis existed to support such instructions. The trial court erred in denial of Defense Jury Instruction D-7, defining actual possession, as facts in evidence established the basis for giving such an instruction, thus depriving Mr. Butler of his fundamental right to due process and a properly instructed jury; thus, the trial court allowed the jury to be improperly instructed concerning the facts in evidence. In the case at bar, Renaldo Butler was the victim of purposeful discrimination, and the trial court erred when it did not find a prima facie case of discrimination to sustain the Batson challenge. The trial court erred when it overruled a Batson challenge by the defense when the State exercised four preemptory strikes against African-American jurors. The irrelevant and highly prejudicial questioning of Ms. Chandler about her children's criminal record was cumulative and should not have been allowed. The trial court erred in denying the defense's *Motion to Suppress* the physical evidence. The arresting officer did not have probable cause to stop or make the arrest.

ARGUMENT

I. The trial court erred when it gave State's Jury Instruction S-3 and S-4 on constructive possession when no adequate evidentiary basis existed to support such instructions; The trial court erred in denial of Defense Jury Instruction D-7, defining actual possession, as facts in evidence established the basis for giving such an instruction, thus depriving Mr. Butler of his fundamental right to due process and proper instruction of the jury;

It is well settled that jury instructions must be based on the evidence presented at trial. "Trial courts are required to instruct juries regarding issues of fact only where there appears in the record credible evidence upon which the jury might reasonable find the fact in favor of the requesting party. *Hicks v State* 580 So. 2d 1302,1306. (citing *Ashley v. State* 538 So.2d 1181, 1184 (Miss., 1989). The court gave two (2) constructive possession jury instructions S-3 and S-4 when no basis existed for either. RE 12-14; T. 140-142.

Jury Instruction S-3: The court instructs the jury that if you believe from all of the evidence on this case, beyond a reasonable doubt, that Renaldo Butler at time and place in question was aware of the presence and character of the substance which he is charged with possessing and that he was in close proximity to the substance in question and that the substance was subject to his dominion and control, and that he acted in such a way as to exercise such dominion and control, then you must find him guilty of possession of Cocaine.

Jury Instruction S-4: The Court instructs the jury that to constitute "Possession as applied to this case, it is not necessary that the State prove actual physical possession; it is sufficient if the State establishes that the substance involved was subject to the defendant's dominion and control, and that he was aware or reasonably should have been aware, of its presence and character.

The Defense objected to both instructions on the basis that they were not supported by the evidence and facts at trial.(T.140-141) The test to be applied in a constructive possession case is whether there are sufficient facts to warrant a

particular substance and was intentionally and consciously in possession of it.

Actual physical possession is not needed in a constructive possession case.

Constructive possession may be established through a defendant's dominion and control of the substance or area. *Curry v. State*, 249 So.2d 414,416 (Miss. 1971) Such instructions would only be appropriate if there were no evidence establishing actual possession of the contraband. *Hicks v. State*, 580 So.2d 1302, 1306.

finding that defendant was aware of the presence and the character of the

The test of constructive possession was not established because the defendant denied knowing of any drugs that night. (T.129, 138) The arresting officer did not do a field test to confirm that drugs were on the scene. (T.97) So, at the time of arrest, based on the testimony of Renaldo Butler and Officer Casanova Reed no one knew or was consciously aware of the presence or character of the substance that was found on the ground at a public car wash. (Supplemental Suppression Hearing Transcript p. 18; See Motion for Supplementation of Record, May 5, 2008) Officer Reed and Renaldo Butler both stated that there were 10-20 people at the Chuk Stop Car Wash.. (T.92) It would be impossible for Renaldo Butler to have dominion and control over the area. Proximity is an essential element of constructive possession, but by itself is not adequate in the absence of other incriminating circumstances.

Curry v. State 249 So.2d 414,416(Miss.1971)

The arresting officer in this case says unequivocally that he saw the defendant throw a plastic bag with a substance that appeared to be crack cocaine to the ground. (T. 86,93, 95) After persistent questioning of Officer Reed he stated that he had clear visibility that night. (T.101-102). The State has the burden of proof.

The State presented direct evidence in their case in chief that Officer Reed arrested Renaldo Butler because he saw him throw something to the ground. Those facts clearly state that we have a "throw down" case which this Court has dealt with on many occasions. It is inappropriate for the judge to grant jury instructions that are not based on the evidence at trial.

The defense offered an actual physical possession jury instruction that was refused by the trial court. (T.140-142) RE 12-14.

Jury Instruction D-7: The court instructs the jury that actual possession means to have actual physical control, care, and management of the drug. The court also instructs the jury that a person is in possession of an illegal substance if he was aware of the presence and character of the particular drug and was intentionally and consciously in possession of it.

The officer stated that he saw Renaldo Butler drop an item from his pocket that night. (T. 86) This instruction was a proper statement of the law and should have been given. In *Hicks v. State*, 580 So.2d 1302 (Miss. 1991) the Court believed that clear evidence of establishing actual possession was the arresting officer's view of the defendant throwing down a canister with cocaine packets in it. Id. In that case, the judge denied or refused any jury instructions on constructive possession because there was no evidence to support a constructive possession instruction. "The general rule is that all instructions must be supported by the evidence. Where an instruction is not supported by the evidence then it should not be given." *Hicks v. State*, 580 So.2d 1302,1306 (Miss. 1991). Granting instructions not supported by evidence is error. *Lancaster v. State*, 472 So.2d 363, 365 (Miss.1985) When the trial court denied the defense an actual possession instruction he was denied a properly

instructed jury and due of law. Mr. Butler respectfully requests this Court reverse and remand his cause for a new trial.

II. The trial court erred when it overruled a Batson challenge by the defense when the State exercised four preemptory strikes against African-American jurors;

The Constitution guarantees an inherent right to be tried by a jury of one's peers whom are fair and impartial. This standard impresses on the trial judge to proceed with the utmost caution and respect in the voir dire and jury selection process. The jury must be fair and impartial and free from racial discrimination. Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79 (1986). The prosecution in this case used four of its six preemptory challenges to strike African-American jurors. (T.69) Racial discrimination in the exercise of preemptory strikes violates the equal protection and due process rights not only of the defendant but also of the excluded jurors themselves. Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79 (1986). The defense counsel raised a timely objection to the discriminatory practices. (T. 69-70) The court stated that it would take the objection under advisement and at the close of the jury selection process the court would determine if the Batson challenge should be allowed. (T. 70) At the conclusion of the jury selection process, the court stated that because the State had not exercised all of its preemptory challenges that meant a prima facie case of a Batson violation had not been made. (T.73) The court subsequently denied the Batson challenge because the defense did not make a prima facie showing of racial discrimination. (T. 74)

In order to establish a prima facie case of discrimination, the defendant must be a member of a cognizable racial or gender group, the opposing party must have used a preemptory challenge against members of a particular race or gender, and the facts and circumstances raise an inference that the purpose of the strike is of a discriminatory nature. *Perry v. State*, 949 So.2d 764(citing *Snow v. State*, 800 So.2d 472, 478(Miss. 2001). The defense maintains that it established a prima facie case of discrimination when it made a timely objection and stated that four of six preemptory strikes were used to strike only black jurors. (T. 69-70) The court's ruling that a prima facie case had not been established denied Renaldo Butler the right to a duly composed jury of his peers. Furthermore, the court's ruling was without merit and was not based on the relevant circumstances at the time of the objection. The court waited until the end of the jury selection process and gave an erroneous ruling.

"A defendant may establish a prima facie case of purposeful discrimination in selection of the petit jury solely on evidence concerning the prosecutor's exercise of peremptory challenges at the defendant's trial. A combination of factors in the empanelling of the petit jury, as in the selection of the venire, raises the necessary inference of purposeful discrimination. In deciding whether the defendant has made the requisite showing, the trial court should consider all relevant circumstances. For example, a "pattern" of strikes against black jurors included in the particular venire might give rise to an inference of discrimination. Similarly, the prosecutor's questions and statements during voir dire examination and in exercising his challenges may support or refute an inference of discriminatory purpose." Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 96-98

The prosecution used a pattern of striking black jurors before the defense made its challenge. It was clearly the prosecutor's intent to strike black jurors solely because of their race. Because the court took the objection under advisement, it gave notice to the prosecution to cease the discriminatory practices before jury selection ended. However, this did not cure the denial of those black jurors the opportunity to serve

as jurors. As well, Renaldo Butler was still the victim of purposeful discrimination.

The trial courts failure to properly handle the Batson challenge warrants this court to review the record and reverse the conviction.

III. The trial court erred when it overruled a relevance objection made by the defense when the court allowed the extensive and cumulative questioning of defense witness Sherly Chandler concerning the criminal histories of her two sons. This line of questioning was irrelevant and highly prejudicial to the defendant.

A criminal defendant has a constitutional right to call witnesses on his behalf in a criminal proceeding. In this case, the defense called Sheryl Chandler as a witness to the events that took place on October 25, 2003 at the Chuk Stop Car Wash. The prosecution cross-examined Ms. Chandler and subjected her to hostile and harsh treatment on the witness stand. Re 15-21; T. 114-120. The prosecution questioned Ms. Chandler extensively about the criminal records of her children. (T. 114-116, 120) The prosecution begin his cross examination about one of Ms. Chandler's sons being sentenced to life imprisonment for murder. (T. 116) The prosecution did not just ask the questions; he made this a personal attack as he was the prosecutor who prosecuted one of her sons. The defense made a timely objection to the relevance of this line of questioning. (T. 114-115, 120) The prosecution stated that this line of questioning was being used to show bias against the state. (T. 114-115, 120) The Court erred in overruling defense objection to the State going into the convictions of Ms. Chandler's sons to show bias. This line of questioning was irrelevant to the issue of whether Renaldo Butler possessed cocaine. As well, the questioning was highly prejudicial in that the jury may have found that the defendant was guilty by association rather the evidence presented at trial.

Under M.R.E. Rule 403, relevant evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence. When the trial court allowed Ms. Chandler to be questioned about both of her sons' criminal records, this was cumulative evidence and should not have been permitted. This questioning confused the issues and allowed the jurors to focus on Ms. Chandler's children not Ms. Chandler or Renaldo Butler.

It must have the tendency, in the case being tried, to make the facts to which the witness testified less probable than it would be without the evidence of bias. Thus, evidence of bias, or any other evidence that is remote, is a function of relevancy. Evidence can be remote, either in time or because it is far-removed from an issue in the trial. Tills v. State, 661 So. 2d 1139 (Miss. 1995) Ms. Chandler was a credible witness who on the day of trial gave a voluntary written statement to the prosecution. (T. 116) Ms. Chandler did not have to give the Prosecution a statement before court. She was aware that she could make her statements on the witness stand. If Ms. Chandler were so biased against the state and prosecutor who prosecuted her son, she would not have given them a voluntary statement before court. The prosecution cannot have it both ways. The prosecution cannot say that Ms. Chandler is biased against them then use Ms. Chandler's words and statements to support their case against the Defendant, Renaldo Butler.

The prosecution used the statement that Ms. Chandler gave on the morning of trial as extrinsic evidence to show bias and her credibility. The Court allowed

questioning about a prior statement to show bias and the credibility of Ms. Chandler, which is cumulative evidence as the State had already been allowed to impute the criminal convictions of Ms. Chandler's son to show bias against the State. (T. 115, 117-118, 120) The court did not give a *sua sponte* limiting instruction in open court. The court stated to both sides outside the presence of the jury that the matter would be dealt with in a limiting jury instruction stating that it has nothing to do with the guilt or innocence of the defendant. (T. 118). The judge abused his discretion in allowing the testimony. The general rule is that on issues of admissibility of relevant evidence in accordance with bias the rules should be looked at as a whole.

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