IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSINPLY

#### **RENALDO BUTLER**

APPELLANT

# FILED

AUG 0 7 2008

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

APPELLEE

NO. 2007-KA-1915

VS.

. .

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

#### **BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE**

#### APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: JOHN R. HENRY SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

#

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

Assuming for argument that the claim is before the Court, there is no merit in it. As the Court is well aware, it is to give great deference to the trial court's determination under *Batson*. It will not reverse the trial court's determination unless the record indicates that the decision was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence or clearly erroneous. A *prima facie* case of purposeful discrimination is established by the objecting party showing: (1) that he is a member of a cognizable racial group; (2) that the opposing party utilized peremptory challenges to strike members of the objecting party's racial group from the venire; and (3) that the facts and

circumstances surrounding the use of the peremptory challenge raise an inference of discriminatory purpose on the part of the party making the challenge to strike minorities. *Willis, supra.* 

In the case at bar, while it is true that the State challenged four members of the black race, it also accepted "several" of that race as well. Other than pointing out the fact of the four challenges, the defense offered nothing to attempt to show purposeful discrimination. Under these circumstances, it simply cannot be reasonably said that the trial court's decision was contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence or clearly erroneous. *Chandler v. State*, 967 So. 2d 47, 52 (Miss. App. 2006); *McCormick v. State*, 802 So. 2d 157, 161 (Miss. App. 2001); *Tillman v. State*, 841 So. 2d 1160, 1161-1162 (Miss. App. 2002); *Walker v. State*, 671 So. 2d 581, 629 (Miss. 1995). The State did not use all of its peremptory challenges.

In *Dennis v. State*, 555 So. 2d 679, (Miss. 1989), the State used five of seven peremptory challenges to strike black jurors and only one black juror was "in the [jury] box" at the time of the *Batson* challenge. The defendant failed to allege anything beyond "discrimination" when putting forth the challenge. The Mississippi Supreme Court affirmed the trial court's ruling that there was no inference that "prosecution purposefully and intentionally struck potential jurors solely because they were black." *Dennis*, 555 So. 2d at 681. In the case at bar, only four jurors were struck and the State's attorney indicated by using the word "several" that more than one black juror had already been accepted. Furthermore, like the defendant in *Dennis*, the appellant failed to set forth any circumstances beyond the four challenges themselves to show a discriminatory intent. ( R. Vol. 2, p. 71).

When faced with circumstances strikingly similar to those presented here, the Mississippi Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's ruling that no prima facie showing had been established so as to require further inquiry under *Batson*. In *Florence v. State*, 786 So. 2d 409 (Miss. App. 2000), the trial court had heard a *Batson* challenge. All four strikes by the State had been against black men, two of whom had been challenged for cause for race neutral reasons. The trial judge deferred his decision until after the jury selection was complete, at which time he ruled that the defendant had failed to show that the State was being purposefully discriminatory. In examining *Florence* on appeal, the Court upheld the trial court's determination. The court noted that, as here, at least two of the jurors had been challenged for race neutral reasons and multiple black jurors had been accepted before the four were struck. *Florence*, 786 So. 2d at 416.

The explanations of the "for cause" challenges demonstrate that there were race neutral reasons for striking the two women.

The appellant did not establish a prima facie case that the State was acting with a discriminatory purpose by striking black members of the venire. The trial court's decision to deny the *Batson* challenge was not error and therefore should not be reversed.

The Second Assignment of Error is without merit.

#### III. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN PERMITTING SHERYL CHANDLER TO BE QUESTIONED REGARDING HER SONS' CRIMINAL HISTORIES

The appellant contends that the State's questions to defense witness Sheryl Chandler regarding the conviction of one son and the incarceration of another should not have been admitted. Chandler was one of those present at the carwash, celebrating the life of Christopher Stiff with a "repass." She was not related to the Appellant. On direct examination, she was asked whether it was dark at the time of the Appellant's arrest, whether the Appellant was present, and whether she saw the Appellant throw a bag to the ground. (R. Vol. 2, pp. 114 - 115).

The prosecutor, on cross- examination, questioned Chandler about her son's murder conviction, eliciting her testimony that he himself had been the prosecutor at her son's trial. The appellant alleges that the prosecution turned this into a personal attack, but the record shows no indication that the questioning was hostile or even aggressive. The State's attorney asked whether Chandler knew him and how, then limited himself to asking only the fact of the sons' convictions and sentences. He concluded this line of questioning by asking whether Chandler was happy about her son's conviction, to which she responded in the negative. (R. Vol. 2, pp. 116-17). After moving on to other testimony, the prosecutor returned to the issue of bias, questioning Chandler very briefly about her other son, then in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections. Again, he asked only the facts regarding his status and then moved on. (R. Vol. 2, p. 121).

Upon the defense's objection to these questions, the prosecutor clearly stated that they were relevant to show the bias of the witness against the state. The defense requested and was granted an instruction limiting the jury to consider the testimony in question only to determine Chandler's possible bias against the State.

The appellant argues that these questions were inadmissible because they were irrelevant to the issue of whether Butler was in possession of cocaine. The appellant is correct that the legal troubles of a defense witness's children are irrelevant to prove the defendant's guilt or innocence. However, these questions were not meant to show whether or not Renaldo Butler had cocaine on the night in question. They were presented for the purpose of showing that the witness had personal reason to be biased against the State, specifically the conviction of one son and the incarceration of another. Mississippi Rules of Evidence, Rule 616 allows "[w]ide open crossexamination of any matter bearing upon the credibility of a witness...including the possible

interest, bias, or prejudice of the witness[.]" The Mississippi Supreme Court has long considered the right of cross examination of the highest importance. According to *Prewitt v. State*, 126 So. 824 (Miss. 1930), cross examination is a "test of the accuracy, truthfulness, and credibility of testimony" to which there is no equivalent. Cross examination may be conducted to the fullest extent necessary to test "the memory, accuracy, sincerity, interest, or bias of the witness" and should not be interfered with "except in clear case of irrelevancy, trespass beyond admissible ground, or extremes of continual, aimless repetition." *Id.* at 825. Where bias is the chosen for of impeachment, wide latitude is allowed in cross - examination. *Fort v. State*, 752 So.2d 458 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999)

Not only do the Mississippi Supreme Court and the Mississippi Court of Appeals permit a broad scope of cross examination, they leave the extent of that breadth primarily to the discretion of the trial judge. In *Ward v. State*, 479 So. 2d 713 (Miss. 1985), the Mississippi Supreme Court determined that "questions regarding the scope of cross-examination rest within the sound discretion of the trial court and are subject to reversal only upon a clear abuse of that discretion. *Id.* at 716 (*citing Shanklin v. State*, 290 So. 2d 625 (Miss. 1974)). The Mississippi Court of Appeals reiterated the extent to which trial judges are given deference regarding the scope of cross examination in *Sims v. Collins*, 762 So. 2d 785 (Miss. App. 2000), stating that "parties may liberally cross-examine a proffered witnesses [sic] on the basis of his opinion and regarding bias and interest. The extent of cross-examination, however, lies within the sound discretion of the trial court, and we will reverse only when an abuse of that discretion is shown." *Id.* at 790. The parties are given, at the discretion of the trial court, wide latitude with which to show an adverse witness's possible bias. It is then the role of the jury to determine the credibility of that witness. *Street v. State*, 754 So. 2d 497, 502 (Miss. App. 1999) (permitting, for the

purpose of showing bias, testimony showing that witness was married to a member of the defendant's gang).

The appellant further contends that this line of questioning was prejudicial to the defendant, confusing to the jury, and cumulative. However, we have not found that the Appellant based his objection on M.R.E. 403. The Appellant may not now make this a basis for his objection. *Brown v. State*, 965 So.2d 1023, 1029 (Miss. 2007).

The matters of possible prejudice and confusion of the issues were both cured by the limiting instruction given to the jurors permitting them to consider the testimony regarding Chandler's sons only in determining her credibility as a witness. The instruction plainly instructed the jurors that these questions "may not be considered by you as evidence to determine guilt or innocence in this trial." (Instruction S-6, R. Vol. 1, p. 32). The defense failed to even request such an instruction and so can hardly complain on appeal that one was not give *sua sponte* in open court. In any event, what the Appellant's complaint is about this is obscure. Whether the court did or did not give an instruction *sua sponte* is of no importance in view of the fact that such an instruction, originating with the State, was given.

The appellant also appears to argue that the admission of Chandler's earlier statement to the State was improper because it was cumulative evidence showing bias to the State. No such argument was raised in the trial court. The only complaint made by the defense concerning the witness' statement was that there was, allegedly, a discovery violation. The argument raised here, if that is what it is, is not properly before the Court.

That statement was not used to show bias, but to show that Chandler's direct examination was at best incomplete and at worst contradictory to what she had already given in a signed statement. M.R.E. Rule 613 permits questioning of witnesses regarding prior statements.

The State was not trying to "have its cake and eat it too". It was simply demonstrating that, in addition to the fact that the witness had reason to be biased against the State, her testimony was in conflict with her prior statement. This was an entirely valid evidentiary purpose. Chandler's statements to the State were neither cumulative nor inadmissible under the Mississippi Rules of Evidence.

Where, as here, the trial court found cross examination testimony to be relevant and admissible, there must have been a clear abuse of discretion in order for an appellate court to reverse that decision. The appellant has failed to show how the decisions of the trial court constitute an abuse of discretion so as to require reversal.

The Third Assignment of Error is without merit.

#### IV. THE DENIAL OF THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS PHYSICAL EVIDENCE WAS NOT ERROR

Prior to trial, the trial court held a hearing on the Appellant's motion to suppress the cocaine the Appellant dropped on the ground. In the course of that hearing, Officer Casonova Reed testified that he was at the Chuk Stop car wash on the evening of 23 October 2003, patrolling the area. As he was doing so, he noticed that there were a number of people at the car wash. They appeared to be drinking.

He drove up to the car wash and informed those present that drinking in public was prohibited by city ordinance. As he was doing so, a young man – the Appellant, as it turned out – went outside a car wash booth and dropped something on to the ground. Reed told him to stop. Reed then went to the Appellant and saw a small bag right beside the Appellant's foot. The bag contained what appeared to be crack cocaine. Reed arrested the Appellant at that point and seized the bag. The area was very well illuminated. The car wash was privately owned property. None of the participants in the "repass" were cited for drinking in public. No field test was performed on the crack cocaine, but the officer testified that he recognized the substance through his training and experience. (R. Supp. Vol.).

The appellant contends that Officer Reed did not have probable cause to arrest because he did not perform a field test on the substance in the white bag to and therefore could not absolutely confirm that it was crack cocaine. In the actual motion to suppress the evidence, the defense argued that the open container violation was a pretextual reason for Reed to stop and harass the appellant. (R. Vol. 1, pp. 16-17).

In denying the motion to suppress the physical evidence, the trial court found that "at the time the defendant abandoned the plastic bag he was not under arrest. He had no expectations of privacy in the plastic bag that he discarded; that the officer had probably [sic] cause to make the arrest[.]" (R. Supplement Vol. 1, p. 18).

In reviewing rulings on motions to suppress evidence, this Court looks to determine whether, from the totality of the circumstances, the trial court's findings were supported by substantial credible evidence. Where supported by substantial credible evidence, the trial court's decision will not be disturbed. *Hampton v. State*, 966 So.2d 863, 865 - 866 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007).

The facts here are quite simple and to the point: The officer, seeing that a group of people was violating city ordinance by drinking in public, approached the group to inform them of that fact. The Appellant stepped out, dropped something on the ground. The officer's curiosity piqued, the officer went to the Appellant, retrieved what had been dropped, and saw that it appeared to contain crack cocaine. It was at that point that the Appellant was arrested. There

was probable cause to effect the arrest. Jones v. State, 877 So.2d 562, 564 (Miss. Ct. App. 2004).

The fact that the officer did not utilize a field test to determine whether the substance was crack cocaine is neither here nor there. The officer testified that he believed that it was, based upon his experience and training. This was entirely sufficient to arise to probable cause. *Hampton, supra.* While the Appellant attempts to say that the officer did not have training sufficient to recognize crack cocaine, that is not what the officer testified to. Based on his law enforcement training and experience, Reed believed the contents of the bag to be crack cocaine. He testified to this both in the hearing on the motion to suppress and at trial. (R. Supp. Vol. 1, pp. 5, 13, 18; R. Vol. 2, pp. 87-88, 98, 102). Upon examination, he testified that during training at the police academy he had been shown different types of drugs and had also had experience with identifying drugs during the course of his employment as a law enforcement officer. (R. Vol. 2, p. 102)

In addition to the foregoing, we will point out that the Appellant abandoned any privacy interest he may have had in the contents of the bag when he dropped it on the ground in a public place. *Ranier v. State*, 944 So.2d 115 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006); *Williams v. State*, 892 So.2d 272, 278 (Miss. Ct. App. 2004). Once the bag was abandoned, it was no longer protected by any legitimate expectation of privacy. Reed committed no Fourth Amendment violation when he picked the bag up for examination.

The Mississippi Supreme Court has repeatedly determined that sufficient probable cause for arrest exists when an officer observes a person in contact with or disposing of contraband. In *Young v. State*, 562 So. 2d 90 (Miss. 1990), officers were deemed to have sufficient probable cause where they saw the defendants handling items on a porch ledge of an abandoned apartment

and those items later proved to be drugs. In a remarkably similar case, *Branning v. State*, 222 So. 2d 668, (Miss. 1969), an officer witnessed defendants dropped three bottles to their feet upon his approach. These bottles turned out to contain narcotics. The Mississippi Supreme Court found that the bottles were abandoned. Examination of them did not constitute a search and the defendants' Fourth Amendment rights were not violated. The Court also found that the bottles afforded probable cause to arrest the defendants.

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